# Registration of a Charge

Company name: HC-ONE OVAL LIMITED

Company number: 10257888

Received for Electronic Filing: 20/12/2017



# **Details of Charge**

Date of creation: 14/12/2017

Charge code: 1025 7888 0002

Persons entitled: MOUNT STREET MORTGAGE SERVICING LIMITED

Brief description:

Contains fixed charge(s).

Contains negative pledge.

# Authentication of Form

This form was authorised by: a person with an interest in the registration of the charge.

# Authentication of Instrument

Certification statement: WE CERTIFY THAT SAVE FOR MATERIAL REDACTED PURSUANT

TO S.859G OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 THE ELECTRONIC COPY INSTRUMENT DELIVERED AS PART OF THIS APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION IS A CORRECT COPY OF THE ORIGINAL

INSTRUMENT.

Certified by: SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP



# CERTIFICATE OF THE REGISTRATION OF A CHARGE

Company number: 10257888

Charge code: 1025 7888 0002

The Registrar of Companies for England and Wales hereby certifies that a charge dated 14th December 2017 and created by HC-ONE OVAL LIMITED was delivered pursuant to Chapter A1 Part 25 of the Companies Act 2006 on 20th December 2017.

Given at Companies House, Cardiff on 21st December 2017

The above information was communicated by electronic means and authenticated by the Registrar of Companies under section 1115 of the Companies Act 2006





#### DATED 14 December 2017

# THE PERSONS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 (as Chargors)

and

# MOUNT STREET MORTGAGE SERVICING LIMITED (as Security Trustee)

CAYMAN SHAREHOLDER LOAN SECURITY AGREEMENT

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	3
2.	TRUST	
3.	PAYMENT OF SECURED LIABILITIES	6
4.	FIXED CHARGES, ASSIGNMENTS AND FLOATING CHARGE	6
5.	PERFECTION OF SECURITY	
6.	FURTHER ASSURANCE	7
7.	NEGATIVE PLEDGE AND DISPOSALS	8
8.	ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY	8
9.	APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER OR ADMINISTRATOR	9
10.	POWERS OF RECEIVER	10
11.	SECURITY TRUSTEE PROVISIONS	10
12.	APPLICATION OF MONIES	11
13.	PROTECTION OF PURCHASERS	11
14.	POWER OF ATTORNEY	12
15.	EFFECTIVENESS OF SECURITY	12
16.	RELEASE OF SECURITY	15
17.	SET-OFF	16
18.	PRIOR SECURITY INTERESTS	16
19.	CURRENCY INDEMNITY	16
20.	ASSIGNMENT	16
21.	NOTICES	17
22.	EXPENSES, STAMP TAXES AND INDEMNITY	
23.	PAYMENTS FREE OF DEDUCTION	
24.	DISCRETION AND DELEGATION	
25.	COUNTERPARTS	
26.	GOVERNING LAW	
	EDULE 1 THE CHARGORS	
SCH	EDULE 2	23
FOR	M OF NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF SUBORDINATED FINANCE DOCUMENT	r23

#### DATED 14 December 2017

#### **PARTIES**

- (1) **THE PERSONS** listed in Schedule 1 (*The Chargors*) (each a "**Chargor**" and together the "**Chargors**"); and
- (2) **MOUNT STREET MORTGAGE SERVICING LIMITED**, as security trustee for the Secured Parties (the "**Security Trustee**").

#### OPERATIVE PROVISIONS

#### 1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

#### 1.1 **Definitions**

Capitalised terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Facility Agreement. In addition, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below:

"Agreement" means this Shareholder Loan Security Agreement, as amended, varied, novated or supplemented from time to time.

"Ancillary Liabilities" means in relation to any Undocumented Subordinated Debt:

- (a) any refinancing, novation, refunding, restructuring, deferral or extension of any of those liabilities:
- (b) any further advance which may be made under any agreement supplemental to the relevant facilities or credit agreement plus all interest, indemnities, fees and costs in connection therewith;
- (c) any claim for damages or restitution in the event of rescission of any such liabilities or otherwise in connection with any relevant facilities or credit agreement;
- (d) any claim against any Debtor flowing from any recovery by a Debtor of a payment or discharge in respect of those liabilities on the grounds of preference or otherwise; and
- (e) any amounts (including post insolvency interest) which would be included in any of the above but for any discharge, non-provability, unenforceability or non-allowability of the same in any insolvency or other proceedings.

"Book Debts" means all book and other debts (including rents) and other moneys, liabilities and monetary claims of any nature whatsoever now or hereafter due, owing or payable to any Chargor (including moneys, liabilities and claims deriving from or in relation to any contract or agreement to which any Chargor is party, or any other assets or

rights of any Chargor, and including the benefit of any judgment or order to pay money and any amounts due or owing from any government or governmental agency including in respect of Tax) and all other rights of any Chargor to receive money (but excluding all moneys now or hereafter standing to the credit of any account held by any Chargor with any bank) and any proceeds thereof; and the benefit of (including the proceeds of all claims under) all rights, security interests, securities, guarantees, indemnities, negotiable instruments, letters of credit and insurances of any nature whatsoever now or hereafter owned or held by any Chargor in relation to any of the foregoing.

"Charged Property" means all the assets and undertaking of each Chargor which from time to time are the subject of the security created or expressed to be created in favour of the Security Trustee by or pursuant to this Agreement.

"Collateral Rights" means all rights, powers and remedies of the Security Trustee provided by or pursuant to this Agreement or by law.

"Debtor" has the meaning given to it in the Subordination Agreement.

"Delegate" means a delegate or a sub-delegate of the Security Trustee appointed under this Agreement.

"Enforcement Event" has the meaning given to it in Clause 8.1 (Enforcement).

"Facility Agreement" means the facility agreement dated 8 September 2017 made between, amongst others, FC Oval Holdco 1 Limited (as Parent), FC Oval Holdco 2 Limited (as Holdco 2), FC Oval Holdco 3 Limited (as Holdco 3), FC Oval Bidco Ltd (as Borrower) and the Security Trustee (as the Security Agent and Agent) as amended, varied, novated or supplemented from time to time.

"Notice of Assignment" means a notice of assignment in substantially the form set out in Schedule 2 or in such other form as may be specified by the Security Trustee.

"Parties" means the parties to this Agreement and "Party" means either of them.

"Receiver" means a receiver or receiver and manager or, where permitted by law, an administrative receiver of the whole or any part of the Charged Property and that term will include any appointee made under a joint and/or several appointment.

"Related Rights" means, in relation to any asset:

- (a) the proceeds of sale of any part of that asset;
- (b) all rights under any licence, agreement for sale or agreement for lease in respect of that asset:
- (c) all rights, powers, benefits, claims, contracts, warranties, remedies, security, guarantees, indemnities or covenants for title in respect of that asset; and

(d) any monies and proceeds paid or payable in respect of that asset.

"Subordinated Debt" has the meaning given to it in the Subordination Agreement.

"Subordinated Finance Document" means each of the documents set out in Schedule 5 (Subordinated Finance Documents) of the Subordination Agreement governed by Cayman Islands law and any other document governed by Cayman Islands law evidencing or recording the terms of any Subordinated Debt.

"Undocumented Subordinated Debt" means all present and future sums, liabilities and obligations whatsoever (actual or contingent) payable, owing, due or incurred by any Debtor to any Chargor together with any Ancillary Liabilities relating thereto, which are not evidenced or recorded by a Subordinated Finance Document but which otherwise exist from time to time and are governed by Cayman Islands law.

#### 1.2 Construction

- (a) The provisions of Clauses 1.2 (Construction) to 1.6 (Third party rights) (inclusive) of the Facility Agreement apply to this Agreement as though they were set out in full in this Agreement except that references to the Facility Agreement will be construed as references to this Agreement.
- (b) Any reference in this Agreement to the Security Trustee exercising a discretion or giving its consent or agreement shall be construed in accordance with, and subject to, the provisions of Clause 1.2(f) (*Construction*) of the Facility Agreement.
- (c) Any covenant of the Chargors under this Agreement is made or given to the Security Trustee for itself and as security trustee for the Secured Parties and remains in force until the Debt Discharge Date.
- (d) The undertakings and other obligations of each Chargor, the Security Trustee or any other person under this Agreement shall at all times be read and construed as subject to the provisions of the Facility Agreement which shall prevail in the case of any conflict.

#### 1.3 Certificates

A certificate of the Security Trustee setting forth the amount of any Secured Liability due from the Chargors shall be conclusive evidence of such amount in the absence of manifest error.

#### 2. TRUST

The Security Trustee shall hold, and hereby declares that it shall hold, the benefit of the security created by this Agreement and the benefit of all representations, warranties, covenants and undertakings under this Agreement on trust for itself and the Secured Parties on and subject to the terms of this Agreement and the Chargors hereby acknowledge such trusts.

#### 3. PAYMENT OF SECURED LIABILITIES

#### 3.1 Covenant to Pay

Each Chargor covenants with the Security Trustee that it shall duly and punctually pay or discharge the Secured Liabilities at the time or times when, and in the currency in which, they are expressed to be payable and, if no time for payment has been expressed, immediately on demand.

#### 3.2 Interest on Demands

If a Chargor fails to pay any sum on the due date for payment of that sum such Chargor shall pay interest on any such sum from the due date until the date of payment and such sum shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Clause 8.4 (*Default interest*) of the Facility Agreement.

#### 4. FIXED CHARGES, ASSIGNMENTS AND FLOATING CHARGE

#### 4.1 Fixed Charges

To the extent not effectively assigned under Clause 4.2 (Assignments), each Chargor charges by way of first fixed continuing security with full title guarantee in favour of the Security Trustee for the payment and discharge of the Secured Liabilities, all such Chargor's right, title, interest and benefit from time to time (both present and future) in and to each of the following assets by way of first fixed charge:

- (a) all Subordinated Debt which exists from time to time and is governed by Cayman Islands law:
- (b) all Undocumented Subordinated Debt due or incurred to such Chargor; and
- (c) all Book Debts and all Related Rights other than any claims which are otherwise subject to a fixed charge or assignment (at law or in equity) pursuant to this Agreement.

and all Related Rights in respect of each of the above.

#### 4.2 Assignments

Each Chargor assigns and agrees to assign absolutely with full title guarantee to the Security Trustee as security for the payment and discharge of the Secured Liabilities all such Chargor's right, title, interest and benefit from time to time (both present and future) in and to the Subordinated Finance Documents and the Book Debts (subject to obtaining any necessary consent to that assignment from any third party).

#### 5. PERFECTION OF SECURITY

#### 5.1 Notices of Assignment

- (a) Subject to Clause 5.1(b), each Chargor shall deliver to the relevant person, Notices of Assignment duly executed by, or on behalf of, such Chargor in respect of any other asset which is the subject of an assignment pursuant to Clause 4.2 (Assignments), promptly upon the request of the Security Trustee from time to time, and in each case shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that each notice is promptly acknowledged by the recipient of such notice (such acknowledgement to be in substantially the form set out in Schedule 2 or in such form as may be specified by the Security Trustee).
- (b) Where a counterparty (a "Counterparty") to an assignor or chargor of a Subordinated Finance Document which is charged and/or assigned under Clause Error! Reference source not found. (Fixed Charges) and/or Clause 4.2 (Assignments) is a party to this Agreement:
  - (i) the Counterparty:
    - (A) acknowledges that it has been notified of the relevant assignment or charge by being a party to this Agreement; and
    - (B) consents to, and acknowledges, the relevant assignment and/or charge of the relevant Subordinated Finance Document; and
  - (ii) the Security Trustee acknowledges and agrees that no notice or acknowledgment is required to be given under this Clause Error!

    Reference source not found. in respect of any Subordinated Finance Document to the extent that the Counterparty has given is acknowledgement pursuant to Clause 5.1(b)(i) above.

#### 5.2 Further Advances

Subject to the terms of the Facility Agreement the Lenders are under an obligation to make further advances to the Borrower and that obligation will be deemed to be incorporated into this Agreement as if set out in this Agreement.

#### 6. FURTHER ASSURANCE

#### 6.1 Further Assurance: General

- (a) Each Chargor shall promptly at its own cost do all such acts or execute all such documents (including assignments, transfers, mortgages, charges, notices and instructions) as the Security Trustee may reasonably specify (and in such form as the Security Trustee may reasonably require in favour of the Security Trustee or its nominee(s)):
  - (i) to perfect the security created or intended to be created in respect of the Charged Property (which may include the execution by such Chargor of a mortgage, charge or assignment over all or any of the assets constituting,

or intended to constitute, Charged Property) or for the exercise of the Collateral Rights;

- (ii) to confer on the Security Trustee security over any property and assets of such Chargor located in any jurisdiction outside the Cayman Islands equivalent or similar to the security intended to be conferred by or pursuant to this Agreement; and/or
- (iii) (after the occurrence of an Enforcement Event) to facilitate the realisation of the Charged Property.

#### 6.2 Necessary Action

Each Chargor shall take all such action as is available to it (including making all filings and registrations) as may be necessary for the purpose of the creation, perfection, protection or maintenance of any security conferred or intended to be conferred on the Security Trustee by or pursuant to this Agreement.

#### 6.3 Consents

Each Chargor shall use its reasonable endeavours to obtain (in form and content satisfactory to the Security Trustee) as soon as possible any consents necessary to enable the assets of such Chargor to be the subject of an effective fixed charge or assignment pursuant to Clause 4.1 (*Fixed Charges*) and 4.2 (*Assignments*) and, immediately upon obtaining any such consent, the asset concerned shall become subject to such security and the relevant Chargor shall promptly deliver a copy of each consent to the Security Trustee.

#### 7. NEGATIVE PLEDGE AND DISPOSALS

#### 7.1 Negative Pledge and Disposals

Clauses 22.3 (Negative pledge) and 22.4 (Disposals) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Agreement, save that any reference to an "Obligor" therein shall be deemed to be a reference to a Chargor.

#### 8. ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY

#### 8.1 Enforcement

The security constituted by this Agreement shall, subject to any prohibition or restriction imposed by law, become enforceable upon and at any time after notice has been provided to the Company by the Agent pursuant to, and in accordance with, Clause 24.22 (Acceleration) of the Facility Agreement (an "Enforcement Event") and, following an Enforcement Event, the Security Trustee may, without notice to the Chargors or prior authorisation from any court, in its absolute discretion:

- (a) enforce all or any part of that security (at the times, in the manner and on the terms it thinks fit) and take possession of and hold or dispose of all or any part of the Charged Property; and
- (b) whether or not it has appointed a Receiver, exercise all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions conferred by the Companies Law (2016 Revision) (as varied or extended by this Agreement) on mortgagees and by this Agreement on any Receiver or otherwise conferred by law on mortgagees or Receivers.

#### 8.2 No Liability as Mortgagee in Possession

Neither the Security Trustee nor any Receiver shall be liable to account as a mortgagee in possession in respect of all or any part of the Charged Property or be liable for any loss upon realisation or for any neglect, default or omission in connection with the Charged Property to which a mortgagee or mortgagee in possession might otherwise be liable.

#### 9. APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER OR ADMINISTRATOR

#### 9.1 **Appointment and Removal**

After the occurrence of an Enforcement Event or if a petition or application is presented for the making of an administration order in relation to any Chargor or if any person who is entitled to do so gives written notice of its intention to appoint an administrator of any Chargor or files such a notice with the court or if requested to do so by any Chargor, the Security Trustee may by deed or otherwise (acting through an authorised officer of the Security Trustee), without prior notice to any Chargor:

- (a) appoint one or more persons to be a Receiver of the whole or any part of the Charged Property;
- (b) appoint two or more Receivers of separate parts of the Charged Property;
- (c) remove (so far as it is lawfully able) any Receiver so appointed; or
- (d) appoint another person(s) as an additional or replacement Receiver(s).

#### 9.2 Capacity of Receivers

Each person appointed to be a Receiver pursuant to Clause 9.1 (Appointment and Removal) shall be:

- (a) entitled to act individually or together with any other person appointed or substituted as Receiver:
- (b) for all purposes deemed to be the agent of each Chargor which shall be solely responsible for his acts, defaults and liabilities and for the payment of his remuneration and no Receiver shall at any time act as agent for the Security Trustee; and

(c) entitled to remuneration for his services at a rate to be fixed by the Security Trustee from time to time.

#### 9.3 Statutory Powers of Appointment

The powers of appointment of a Receiver shall be in addition to all statutory and other powers of appointment of the Security Trustee under the Companies Law (2016 Revision) (as extended by this Agreement) or otherwise and such powers shall remain exercisable from time to time by the Security Trustee in respect of any part of the Charged Property.

#### 10. POWERS OF RECEIVER

Every Receiver shall (subject to any restrictions in the instrument appointing him but notwithstanding any winding-up or dissolution of any Chargor) have and be entitled to exercise, in relation to the Charged Property (and any assets of that Chargor which, when got in, would be Charged Property) in respect of which he was appointed, and as varied and extended by the provisions of this Agreement (in the name of or on behalf of that Chargor or in his own name and, in each case, at the cost of that Chargor):

- (a) all the powers of an administrative receiver set out in Companies Law (2016 Revision) (whether or not the Receiver is an administrative receiver);
- (b) all the powers and rights of an absolute owner and power to do or omit to do anything which a Chargor itself could do or omit to do; and
- the power to do all things (including bringing or defending proceedings in the name or on behalf of a Chargor) which seem to the Receiver to be incidental or conducive to (1) any of the functions, powers, authorities or discretions conferred on or vested in him or (2) the exercise of the Collateral Rights (including realisation of all or any part of the Charged Property) or (3) bringing to his hands any assets of any Chargor forming part of, or which when got in would be, Charged Property.

#### 11. SECURITY TRUSTEE PROVISIONS

- (a) The Security Trustee executes this Agreement in the exercise of the rights, powers and authority conferred and vested in it under the Facility Agreement and any other Finance Document for and on behalf of the Secured Parties for whom it acts. It will exercise its powers, rights, duties and authority under this Agreement in the manner provided for in the Facility Agreement and, in so acting, it shall have the protections, immunities, limitations of liability, rights, powers, authorisations, indemnities and benefits conferred on it under and by the Facility Agreement and the other Finance Documents.
- (b) The Security Trustee shall owe no fiduciary duties to any party to this Agreement or any of their directors, employees, agents or affiliates.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, in acting under and in accordance with this Agreement the Security Trustee is entitled to seek instructions from the relevant Finance Parties in accordance with the provisions of the Facility Agreement and at any time, and where it so acts or refrains from acting on the instructions of a Finance Party or Finance Parties entitled to give it instructions, the Security Trustee shall not incur any liability to any person for so acting or refraining from acting.

#### 12. APPLICATION OF MONIES

#### 12.1 Order of Application

All monies received or recovered by the Security Trustee or any Receiver pursuant to this Agreement or the powers conferred by it shall (subject to the claims of any person having prior rights thereto) be applied in the order and manner specified in the Facility Agreement.

#### 12.2 New account.

If any Chargor receives notice (actual or constructive) of any subsequent security over any Charged Property, the Security Trustee may open a new account in the name of that Chargor (whether or not it allows any existing account to continue), and if it does not do so, it shall be deemed to have done so at the time it received or was deemed to have received such notice (such time the "Relevant Time"). Thereafter, all subsequent payments by the relevant Chargor to the Security Trustee or received by the Security Trustee for the account of such Chargor shall be credited or deemed to have been credited to the new account, and shall not operate to reduce the amount secured by this Agreement at the Relevant Time.

#### 13. PROTECTION OF PURCHASERS

#### 13.1 Consideration

The receipt of the Security Trustee or any Receiver shall be conclusive discharge to a purchaser and, in making any sale or disposal of any of the Charged Property or making any acquisition, the Security Trustee or any Receiver may do so for such consideration, in such manner and on such terms as it thinks fit.

#### 13.2 Protection of Purchasers

No purchaser or other person dealing with the Security Trustee or any Receiver shall be bound to inquire whether the right of the Security Trustee or such Receiver to exercise any of its powers has arisen or become exercisable or be concerned with any propriety or regularity on the part of the Security Trustee or such Receiver in such dealings.

#### 14. **POWER OF ATTORNEY**

#### 14.1 Appointment and Powers

Each Chargor by way of security hereby irrevocably appoints the Security Trustee and any Receiver severally to be its attorney and in its name, on its behalf and as its act and deed to execute, deliver and perfect all documents and do all things which the attorney may consider to be required or desirable for:

- (a) carrying out any obligation imposed on any Chargor by this Agreement or any other agreement binding on any Chargor to which the Security Trustee is party (including the execution and delivery of any deeds, charges, assignments or other security and any transfers of the Charged Property) where, in each case, such Chargor has not done so; and
- (b) enabling, following the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, the Security Trustee and any Receiver to exercise, or delegate the exercise of, any of the rights, powers and authorities conferred on them by or pursuant to this Agreement or by law (including the exercise of any right of a legal or beneficial owner of the Charged Property).

#### 14.2 Ratification

The Chargor shall ratify and confirm all things done and all documents executed by any attorney appointed under Clause 14.1 (*Appointment and Powers*) in the exercise or purported exercise of all or any of his powers.

#### 14.3 No Liability

The Security Trustee shall not be liable to the Chargor for any action taken by it under or in connection with Clause 14.

#### 15. EFFECTIVENESS OF SECURITY

#### 15.1 Continuing security

- (a) The security, covenants, undertakings and provisions contained in, constituted by or granted pursuant to this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect as a continuing security to the Security Trustee for the Secured Liabilities.
- (b) No part of the security from time to time constituted by the Agreement will be considered satisfied or discharged by any intermediate payment, discharge or satisfaction of the whole or any part of the Secured Liabilities.

#### 15.2 Cumulative Rights

The security created by or pursuant to this Agreement and the Collateral Rights shall be cumulative, in addition to and independent of every other security which the Security

Trustee may at any time hold for the Secured Liabilities or any other obligations or any rights, powers and remedies provided by law. No prior security held by the Security Trustee over the whole or any part of the Charged Property shall merge into the security constituted by this Agreement.

#### 15.3 No Prejudice

The security created by or pursuant to this Agreement and the Collateral Rights shall not be prejudiced by any unenforceability or invalidity of any other agreement or document or by any time or indulgence granted to any Chargor or any other person, or the Security Trustee or by any variation of the terms of the trust upon which the Security Trustee holds the security or by any other thing which might otherwise prejudice that security or any Collateral Right.

#### 15.4 Remedies and Waivers

No failure on the part of the Security Trustee to exercise, or any delay on its part in exercising, any Collateral Right shall operate as a waiver of that Collateral Right, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any Collateral Right preclude any further or other exercise of that or any other Collateral Right.

#### 15.5 No Liability

None of the Security Trustee, its nominee(s) or any Receiver shall be liable to any person by reason of (1) taking any action permitted by this Agreement or (2) any neglect or default in connection with the Charged Property or (3) taking possession of or realising all or any part of the Charged Property, except in the case of negligence or wilful default upon its part.

#### 15.6 Partial Invalidity

If, at any time, any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement nor of such provision under the laws of any other jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby and, if any part of the security intended to be created by or pursuant to this Agreement is invalid, unenforceable or ineffective for any reason, that shall not affect or impair any other part of the security.

#### 15.7 Waiver of defences

The obligations of each Chargor under this Agreement will not be affected by an act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this Clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Agreement (without limitation and whether or not known to it or the Security Trustee) including:

(a) any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, any Transaction Obligor or other person;

- (b) the release of any Transaction Obligor or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor of any Transaction Obligor or other person;
- (c) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, any Transaction Obligor or other person or any non-presentation or nonobservance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instrument or any failure to realise the full value of any security;
- (d) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of any Transaction Obligor or any other person;
- (e) any amendment (however fundamental) or replacement of a Finance Document or any other document or security or of the Secured Liabilities;
- (f) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Finance Document or any other document or security or of the Secured Liabilities; or
- (g) any insolvency or similar proceedings.

#### 15.8 Immediate recourse

Each Chargor waives any right it may have of first requiring the Security Trustee (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) to proceed against or enforce any other rights or security or claim payment from any person before claiming from any Chargor under this Agreement. This waiver applies irrespective of any law or any provision of this Agreement to the contrary.

#### 15.9 Deferral of Rights

Until such time as the Secured Liabilities have been discharged in full, each Chargor will not exercise any rights which it may have by reason of performance by it of its obligations under this Agreement:

- (a) to be indemnified by any Transaction Obligor;
- (b) to claim any contribution from any guaranter of any Transaction Obligor's obligations under this Agreement; and/or
- (c) to take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any rights of the Security Trustee under the Finance Documents or of any other guarantee or security taken pursuant to, or in connection with, this Agreement by the Security Trustee.

#### 16. RELEASE OF SECURITY

#### 16.1 Redemption of security

Subject to Clause 16.4 (Discharge Conditional), below, upon the Secured Liabilities being discharged in full and none of the Secured Parties being under any further actual or contingent obligation to make advances or provide other financial accommodation to any Chargor or any other person under any of the Finance Documents (or, earlier, where the Security Trustee is required to release all or part of the security constituted by this Agreement in accordance with Clause 29.29 (Release of Security) of the Facility Agreement), the Security Trustee shall, at the request and cost of the Chargors, release and cancel the security constituted by this Agreement and procure the reassignment to the relevant Chargor(s) of the property and assets assigned to the Security Trustee pursuant to this Agreement (and, at the Chargors' expense, do all such things and execute all documents as may reasonably be necessary to give effect to such release and reassignment and, following such release and reassignment, promptly deliver to the Chargor all title documents, certificates and other documents deposited with the Security Trustee in connection with Charged Property), in each case subject to Clause 16.3 (Avoidance of Payments) and without recourse to, or any representation or warranty by, the Security Trustee or any of its nominees.

#### 16.2 Partial Release of Security

If a disposal of any of the Charged Property is made in the following circumstances:

- (a) the disposal is permitted by the terms of the Facility Agreement;
- (b) the Security Trustee (on the instruction of the Majority Lenders) agrees to the disposal;
- (c) the disposal is being made at the request of the Security Trustee in circumstances where any security created by the Finance Documents has become enforceable; or
- (d) the disposal is being effected by enforcement of this Agreement,

the Security Trustee shall release the Charged Property being disposed of from any security over those assets created by this Agreement (and, at the Chargors' expense, do all such things and execute all documents as may reasonably be necessary to give effect to such release and, following such release, promptly deliver to the Chargor all title documents, certificates and other documents deposited with the Security Trustee in connection with Charged Property). However, the proceeds of any disposal (or an amount corresponding to them) must be applied in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement.

#### 16.3 Avoidance of Payments

If the Security Trustee considers that any amount paid or credited to it is capable of being avoided or reduced by virtue of any bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or similar laws

the liability of any Chargor under this Agreement and the security constituted by this Agreement shall continue and such amount shall not be considered to have been irrevocably paid.

#### 16.4 **Discharge Conditional**

Any settlement or discharge between any Chargor and the Security Trustee shall be conditional upon no security or payment to the Security Trustee by any Chargor or any other person being avoided, set aside, ordered to be refunded or reduced by virtue of any provision or enactment relating to insolvency and accordingly (but without limiting the other rights of the Security Trustee under this Agreement) the Security Trustee shall be entitled to recover from the relevant Chargor the value which the Security Trustee has placed on that security or the amount of any such payment as if that settlement or discharge had not occurred.

#### 17. SET-OFF

Each Chargor authorises the Security Trustee (but the Security Trustee shall not be obliged to exercise such right), after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, to set off against the Secured Liabilities any amount or other obligation (contingent or otherwise) owing by the Security Trustee to any Chargor and apply any credit balance to which that Chargor is entitled on any account with the Security Trustee in accordance with Clause 12 (Application of Monies) (notwithstanding any specified maturity of any deposit standing to the credit of any such account).

#### 18. PRIOR SECURITY INTERESTS

In the event of any action, proceeding or step being taken to exercise any powers or remedies conferred by any prior ranking security or upon the exercise by the Security Trustee or any Receiver of any power of sale under this Agreement the Security Trustee may redeem that prior security or procure the transfer of it to itself. The Security Trustee may settle and agree the accounts of the prior security and any accounts so settled and agreed will be conclusive and binding on each Chargor. All principal monies, interest, costs, charges and expenses of and incidental to any redemption or transfer will be paid by each Chargor to the Security Trustee on demand and until such payment shall form part of the Secured Liabilities.

#### 19. CURRENCY INDEMNITY

Clause 14.1 (*Currency indemnity*) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Agreement, save that any reference to an "Obligor" therein shall be deemed to be a reference to a Chargor.

#### 20. ASSIGNMENT

20.1 No Chargor shall (whether by way of security or otherwise howsoever) be entitled to assign, grant an equitable interest in or transfer and declare itself a trustee of all or any of its rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement (save with respect to its rights and

benefits which shall be assigned or to be assigned to the Security Trustee under this Agreement).

20.2 The Security Trustee may assign and transfer all or any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement in accordance with the Finance Documents to which it is a party.

#### 21. NOTICES

#### 21.1 Communication in writing

Any communication (including any notices and instructions) to be made under or in connection with this Agreement shall be made in writing and, unless otherwise stated, may be made by electronic mail or fax or letter.

#### 21.2 Addresses

The address and fax number (and the department or officer, if any, for whose attention the communication is to be made) of each Party for any communication or document to be made or delivered under or in connection with this Agreement is that identified with its name below, or any substitute address or fax number or department or officer as the Party may notify to the Security Trustee (or the Security Trustee may notify to the other Parties, if a change is made by the Security Trustee) by not less than five Business Days' notice.

#### 21.3 Delivery

- (a) Any communication or document made or delivered by one person to another under or in connection with this Agreement will only be effective:
  - (i) if by way of fax, when received in legible form; or
  - (ii) if by way of letter, when it has been left at the relevant address or five Business Days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address,

and, if a particular department or officer is specified as part of its address details provided under Clause 36.2 (*Addresses*) in the Facility Agreement, if addressed to that department or officer.

- (b) Any communication or document to be made or delivered to the Security Trustee will be effective only when actually received by the Security Trustee and then only if it is expressly marked for the attention of the department or officer identified with the Security Trustee's signature below (or any substitute department or officer as the Security Trustee shall specify for this purpose).
- (c) All notices from or to any Chargor shall be sent through the Security Trustee.

(d) Any communication or document which becomes effective, in accordance with sub-Clauses (a) to (c) above, after 5.00 p.m. in the place of receipt shall be deemed only to become effective on the following day.

#### 21.4 Notification of address and fax number

Promptly upon changing its address or fax number, the Security Trustee shall notify the other Parties.

#### 21.5 Electronic communication

- (a) Any communication to be made between the Parties under or in connection with this Agreement may be made by electronic mail or other electronic means (including, without limitation, by way of posting to a secure website) if the Parties:
  - (i) notify each other in writing of their electronic mail address and/or any other information required to enable the transmission of information by that means; and
  - (ii) notify each other of any change to their address or any other such information supplied by them by not less than five Business Days' notice.
- (b) Any such electronic communication as specified in sub-Clause (a) above to be made between any Chargor and the Security Trustee may only be made in that way to the extent that Chargor and the Security Trustee agree that, unless and until notified to the contrary, this is to be an accepted form of communication.
- (c) Any such electronic communication as specified in sub-Clause (a) above made between the Parties will be effective only when actually received (or made available) in readable form and in the case of any electronic communication made by any Chargor to the Security Trustee only if it is addressed in such a manner as the Security Trustee shall specify for this purpose.
- (d) Any electronic communication which becomes effective, in accordance with sub-Clause (c) above, after 5:00 p.m. in the place in which the Party to whom the relevant communication is sent or made available has its address for the purpose of this Agreement shall be deemed only to become effective on the following day.
- (e) Any reference in a Finance Document to a communication being sent or received shall be construed to include that communication being made available in accordance with this Clause 21.5 (*Electronic Communication*)
- (f) If the Security Trustee is requested to act by the Majority Lenders (or, if appropriate, the Lenders) on instructions or directions delivered by fax, electronic mail or other unsecured method of communication, the Security Trustee (as the case may be) shall have:

- (i) no duty or obligation to verify or confirm that the person who sent such instruction or directions is, in fact a person authorised to give instructions or directions on behalf of the Majority Lenders (or, if appropriate, the Lenders); and
- (ii) no liability for any losses, liabilities, costs or expenses incurred or sustained by the Majority Lenders (or, if appropriate, the Lenders), as a result of such reliance upon or compliance with such instructions or directions.

#### 21.6 English language

- (a) Any notice given under or in connection with the Agreement must be in English.
- (b) All other documents provided under or in connection with this Agreement must be:
  - (i) in English; or
  - (ii) if not in English, and if so required by the Security Trustee, accompanied by a certified English translation and, in this case, the English translation will prevail unless the document is a constitutional, statutory or other official document.

#### 22. EXPENSES, STAMP TAXES AND INDEMNITY

Clause 14 (Other indemnities) and clause 16 (Costs and expenses) of the Facility Agreement apply to this Agreement as if set out in full in this Agreement, mutatis mutandis.

#### 23. PAYMENTS FREE OF DEDUCTION

Clause 33.6 (No set-off by Obligors) of the Facility Agreement shall apply to this Agreement, save that any references to an "Obligor" therein shall be deemed to be a reference to a Chargor.

#### 24. DISCRETION AND DELEGATION

#### 24.1 Discretion

Any liberty or power which may be exercised or any determination which may be made under this Agreement by the Security Trustee or any Receiver may, subject to the terms and conditions of the Facility Agreement, be exercised or made in its absolute and unfettered discretion without any obligation to give reasons.

#### 24.2 Delegation

Each of the Security Trustee and any Receiver shall have full power to delegate (either generally or specifically) the powers, authorities and discretions conferred on it by this Agreement (including the power of attorney) on such terms and conditions as it shall see fit which delegation shall not preclude either the subsequent exercise any subsequent delegation or any revocation of such power, authority or discretion by the Security Trustee or the Receiver itself.

#### 25. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Agreement.

#### 26. GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands.

#### 26.1 Jurisdiction

- (a) The courts of the Cayman Islands have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement (including a dispute relating to the existence, validity or termination of this Agreement or any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this Agreement) (a "Dispute").
- (b) The Parties agree that the courts of the Cayman Islands are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle Disputes and accordingly no Party shall argue to the contrary.
- (c) This Clause 26.1 (*Jurisdiction*) is for the benefit of the Security Trustee only. As a result, the Security Trustee shall not be prevented from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute in any other courts in a Relevant Jurisdiction or, following enforcement of the Transaction Security, in any other jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, the Security Trustee may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

#### 26.2 Service of process

- (a) Without prejudice to any other mode of service allowed under any relevant law, each Chargor not incorporated in the Cayman Islands:
  - (i) irrevocably appoints FC Oval Holdco 1 Limited at its registered office as its agent for service of process in relation to any proceedings before the Cayman Islands courts in connection with this Agreement; and
  - (ii) agrees that failure by a process agent to notify it of the process will not invalidate the proceedings concerned.

(b) If any person appointed as an agent for service of process is unable for any reason to act as agent for service of process, each Chargor to which sub-Clause (a) applies must immediately (and in any event within 15 days of such event taking place) appoint another agent on terms acceptable to the Security Trustee (and, for these purposes, terms substantially similar to those appointing the original process agent shall be deemed acceptable). Failing this, the Security Trustee may appoint another agent for this purpose.

THIS DEBENTURE has been signed as a deed by the Parties and is delivered by it on the date first set out above.

## SCHEDULE 1

# The Chargors

Name	Jurisdiction	Company Number
FC Skyfall Holdco 3 Limited	Cayman Islands	325582
FC Oval Holdco 1 Limited	Cayman Islands	326415
FC Oval Holdco 2 Limited	Cayman Islands	326416
FC Oval Holdco 3 Limited	Cayman Islands	326417
FC Oval Bidco Limited	Cayman Islands	324496
Bupa Care Homes Limited	England & Wales	10257888

#### **SCHEDULE 2**

#### Form of Notice of Assignment of Subordinated Finance Document

To: [\*\*\*]

Date: [\*\*\*]

Dear Sirs.

We hereby give you notice that we have assigned to Mount Street Mortgage Servicing Limited ("Security Agent") pursuant to a debenture entered into by us in favour of the Security Trustee dated [\*\*\*] all our right, title and interest in and to [details of contract] (the "Subordinated Finance Document").

We will remain liable under the Subordinated Finance Document to perform all obligations imposed on us under the Subordinated Finance Document and none of the Security Agent, its agents, any receiver or any other person will at any time be under any obligation or liability to you under or in respect of the Subordinated Finance Document.

We will remain entitled to exercise all of our rights under the Subordinated Finance Document and you should continue to give notices under the Subordinated Finance Document to us, until such time as the Security Agent provides written notification to the contrary. Thereafter, all rights in respect of the Subordinated Finance Document (including the right to direct payments of amounts due thereunder to another account) will be exercisable by the Security Agent and notices under the Subordinated Finance Document should be given to the Security Agent or as it directs.

You are authorised and instructed (without requiring further approval from us) to provide the Security Agent with such information relating to the Subordinated Finance Document as it may from time to time request;

These instructions may not be revoked without the prior written consent of the Security Agent.

Please sign and return the enclosed copy of this notice to the Security Agent (with a copy to us) to confirm (by way of undertaking in favour of the Security Agent) that:

you agree to the terms of this notice and to act in accordance with its provisions;

[you have not and will not claim, exercise or enforce any right of set-off, counterclaim or similar right in respect of the Subordinated Finance Document without the consent of the Security Agent;]

you have not received notice of the interest of any third party in the Subordinated Finance Document; and

[you will notify the Security Agent of any breach by us of the terms of the Subordinated Finance Document and will allow the Security Agent or the Secured Parties referred to in this notice to remedy that breach].

This notice and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in relation to this notice shall be governed by, and interpreted in accordance with, Cayman Islands law.

Yours faithfully,

for and on behalf of [Chargor]

On co	py only:
To:	Mount Street Mortgage Servicing Limited (the "Security Trustee")  [address]
Сору	to: [ ● ]
We ac	knowledge receipt of the above notice and agree to and confirm the matters set out in it
For an	nd on behalf of [***]
Ву:	······································
Dated	;

## **EXECUTION**

Executed as de in the presence	ed by FC Skyfall Holdco of:	o 3 Limited		
Witness Name:	JOANNA CAMALL	Director		
Name:	Southwate Haves	Name: DAVID Shith		
Address: Southgate House Archer Street Darlington DL3 6AH				
Executed as dee in the presence	ed by <b>FC Oval Holdco 1</b> of:	Limited		
Witness Name:		Director		
Name: JCAN	NA 4AMACE Southeata Hausa	Name: DAVID SMITH		
Southgate House Archer Chack Darlington DL3 6AH				
Executed as deed in the presence of	d by <b>FC Oval Holdco 2</b> l f;	Limited		
Witness Name:		Director		
Vame: JOANNA CANACE Southgate House		Name: DAVID SMITH		
I	Archer Galeat Darlington DL3 6AH			
Executed as deed not the presence of	by <b>FC Oval Holdco 3 I</b> f:	Limited		
Vitness Name:		Director		
lame: JOANN	A GAMAGE	Name: DAVID SMITH		
	Southgate House Archer Street Darlington DL3 6AH			

Executed as deed by FC Oval Bidco Limited in the presence of:

Witness Name:

Director

Name: JOANNA GAMACE

Address:

Southgate House Archer Strust

Darlington DL3 6AH

Name: DAVID SMITH

Executed as deed by Bupa Care Homes Limited in the presence of:

Witness Name:

Director

Name:

JCANUA GAMACK

Name: DAVID STITH

ŧ

Address:

Southgate House Archer Street Darlington DL3 6AH

THE SECURITY TRUSTEE			
SIGNED on behalf of MOUNT STREET MORTGAGE SERVICING LIMITED by	) ) ) ) )	Authorised	l signatory/ies James Buncle